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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF IOWA

No. 5-615 / 05-1082 

Filed September 28, 2005

IN THE INTEREST OF A.M. and A.T.M.,


Minor Children,

L.A., Mother,


Appellant.


Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County, Robert B. Hanson, Judge.  


A mother appeals from the order terminating her parental rights to her two children.  AFFIRMED.

Jami J. Hagemeier of Williams, Blackburn, Hudson & Maharry, P.L.C., Des Moines, for appellant-mother.


Thomas J. Miller, Attorney General, Kathrine S. Miller-Todd, Assistant Attorney General, John P. Sarcone, County Attorney, and Celene Gogerty and Michelle Chenoweth, Assistant County Attorneys, for appellee.


Kayla Stratton, Des Moines, guardian ad litem for minor child.


Linda Murphy, Des Moines, for father.


Considered by Sackett, C.J., and Mahan and Miller, JJ.  

SACKETT, C.J. 


Laura, the mother of Ashley, born in May of 2002, and Austin, born in May of 2004, filed a petition on appeal challenging the juvenile court’s decision terminating her parental rights to the two children.  The children’s father’s parental rights were also terminated but he has not appealed from that order.  We affirm.


We review de novo and give weight to the findings of the juvenile court, particularly with respect to the credibility of witnesses.  In re R.R.K., 544 N.W.2d 274, 275 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995).


While pregnant with Austin, Laura tested positive for methamphetamine and marijuana.  Ashley was removed from her mother’s care in April 2004, and Austin, who testified positive for marijuana at birth, was removed from his mother’s care several days thereafter.


After an adjudicatory hearing in accordance with the provisions of Iowa Code section 232.96 (2003), both children were found to be children in need of assistance in June 2004 pursuant to sections 232.2(6)(c)(2) and (n).
  The children initially were placed in the custody of their father.  Laura made some efforts to conquer her substance abuse problem and correct her parenting skills.  However she did not follow through with appointments and did not complete the required drug screens.  

In mid-July 2004 the children were placed in foster care and Laura’s visits were suspended until she began cooperating with service providers.  The modification of the placement order was confirmed, finding the children were to continue in foster care.  Laura sought to enter a program at the House of Mercy, but in mid-August she was removed from the waiting list because she was not providing drug screens.  She completed several evaluations but failed to follow through with recommended programs.  She completed a thirty-day treatment program in October of 2004 and was to go to a half-way house, and provided drug screens, and work on other issues.  She left the halfway house the second day she was there.  She began outpatient treatment but again did not follow through with appointments.  A review hearing was held in mid-January of 2005.  Laura had not had contact with the agency or treatment provider since mid-November of the prior year.


A petition for termination of parental rights was filed at the end of January of 2005 and the matter came on for hearing at the beginning of March.  Laura was late for the hearing but testified she was involved in therapy and outpatient substance treatment.  She contended she needed a month to prove she could do what was necessary to have her children returned to her care.  She had met with a worker at the House of Mercy in February and reported that she felt suicidal every day and agreed she needed to go to the hospital.  She was admitted to Mercy Franklin where she spent the night and reported she had made two suicide attempts, one in December of 2004 and the second in January of 2005.  She demanded to be discharged the next morning and denied the statements she made the night before.  She attended an orientation session at the House of Mercy in February.  She had an intake appointment scheduled for mid-April.  She had an appointment for the day before the hearing with Eyerly-Ball but she did not attend or cancel the appointment.


The second day of the hearing was scheduled for late April, more than a month after the first day of the hearing.  Despite the fact Laura contended she would be ready for the children in a month, by the time of the second hearing day Laura had not entered therapy or treatment.  She had missed the mid-April intake appointment at the House of Mercy.  She called her lawyer but did not bother to attend the second day of hearings.  The children’s father did not attend either.  The juvenile court, concerned about the parents’ absence closed the record but provided that the parents could seek to reopen the record within twenty-four hours for good cause.  No motions to reopen the record were made.


In June the juvenile court filed its findings and order terminating the parental rights of both parents.  It found clear and convincing evidence that Laura had abandoned the children within the scope and meaning of Iowa Code section 232.116(1)(b); that she had deserted the children within the scope and meaning of section 232.116(1)(b); that she failed to maintain a place of importance in the children’s life; that there was clear and convincing evidence she had not maintained significant and meaningful contact with the children during the previous six months and that she made no efforts to resume their care despite being given the opportunity to do so with in the scope and meaning of section 232.116(1)(e); that there was clear and convincing evidence the children could not be returned to her custody as provided in section 232.102 all within the scope and meaning of section 232.116(1)(h); that there existed clear and convincing evidence Laura has a chronic substance abuse problem, presents a danger to herself and others, and her prognosis precludes the children from being returned to her custody with in a reasonable period of time within the scope and meaning of Iowa Code section 232.116(1)(l).


Laura contends the juvenile court erred in terminating her parents rights pursuant to Iowa Code sections 232.116(1)(b), (e), (h), and (l).  She also contends that termination is not in the children’s best interest.


When the juvenile court terminates parental rights on more than one statutory ground, we need only find the State has proven one of those grounds by clear and convincing evidence to affirm the termination.  See In re A.J., 553 N.W.2d 909, 911 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996).


There is clear and convincing evidence to support a finding parental rights should be terminated under section 232.116(1)(e).  Namely (1) the children have been adjudicated children in need of assistance pursuant to section 232.96, (2) the children have been removed from the physical custody of their parents for a period of at least six consecutive months, and (3) the parents have not maintained significant and meaningful contact with the children during the previous six consecutive months despite being given the opportunity to do so.  There also is clear and convincing evidence to support a finding parental rights should be terminated under section 232.116(1)(l).  Namely (1) the children have been adjudicated children in need of assistance pursuant to section 232.96 and custody has been transferred from the children’s parents for placement pursuant to section 232.102, (2) Laura has a severe, chronic substance abuse problem and presents a danger to herself or others as evidenced by prior acts, and (3) Laura’s prognosis indicates the children will not be able to be returned to her custody within a reasonable period of time considering the children’s age and need for a permanent home.


Laura also contends termination of the children’s parental rights is not in their best interest.  When the statutory time standards found in section 232.116 are approaching, and a parent has made only minimal progress, the child deserves to have the time standards followed by having termination of parental rights promptly pursued.  In re J.L.W., 570 N.W.2d 778, 781 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997).  Accordingly, we affirm the district court's order terminating the Laura's parental rights.


AFFIRMED.

�  There was a contention advanced that the children may have Cherokee blood.  Certain Cherokee tribes were notified and responded, leading to a finding that the children were not subject to the Indian Child Welfare Act.  We are not asked to address this issue and have not done so.  However, if the order is not in compliance with the Act there is no assurance the termination could not be invalidated.  See 25 U.S.C. § 1914; In re J.W., 489 N.W. 2d 417, 418 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993); see also Iowa Code ch. 232B.





